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In the United States Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit

No. 14018

Lloyd A. Fry Roofing Company, petitioner

V.

National Labor Relations Board, respondent

ON PETITION TO REVIEW AND SET ASIDE, AND ON REQUEST
FOR ENFORCEMENT OF, AN ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR
RELATIONS BOARD

BRIEF FOR THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

JURISDICTION

This case is before the Court upon petition of Lloyd

A. Fry Roofing Company, herein called the Company,

to review and set aside the order of the Board (R.

59) ^ issued against it on July 17, 1953, pursuant to

Section 10 (c) of the National Labor Relations Act,

as amended (61 Stat. 136, 29 U. S. C, Supp. V, Sec.

151, et seq.), herein called the Act. The Board, in

its answer to the petition, requested enforcement of

its order (R. 72-73). The jurisdiction of this Court

is based upon Section 10 (e) and (f) of the Act,

^ Record references designated "R" refer to the record printed

pursuant to the rules of this Court. Wherever, in a series of ref-

erences, a semicolon appears, references preceding the semicolon

refer to the Board's findings and those following to the supporting

evidence.

(1)



the unfair labor practices having occurred in San

Leandro, California, within this judicial circuit.^ The

Board's decision and order (R. 57-61) are reported

in 106 NLRB No. 34.

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

I

The Board's findings and conclusions

Briefly, the issue in this case concerns the propriety

of the Board's determination (R. 44, 57-58) that the

Company, by unilaterally changing working condi-

tions, and by failing to give its negotiator sufficient

authority to engage in give-and-take collective bargain-

ing, refused to bargain with the Union, thereby violat-

ing Section 8 (a) (5) and (1) of the Act.

The subsidiary facts respecting the Board's deter-

mination may be summarized as follows

:

A. The bargaining negotiations and the unilateral change of working

conditions

1. The pattern of bargaining as initiated at the first conference

On August 27, 1952, as the result of a Board-di-

rected election, the Board certified Miscellaneous and

Woodworkers Union, Local 2565, United Brotherhood

of Carpenters and Joiners of America, AFL, herein

called the Union, as the exclusive representative of

^ Lloyd A. Fry Roofing Company is a Delaware corporation

having its principal office and place of business at Summit, Illinois.

It is engaged in the manufacture of asphalt roofing at several

plants located at various points in the United States. One of

these plants, located in San Leandro, California, is the sole plant

involved in this proceeding. The Company admits that it is

engaged in commerce within the meaning of the Act (R. 6-7,

11-15,80-81).



the Company's employees in an appropriate unit (R.

39; 81-82).

Upon being notified of its certification, the Union
immediately requested a bargaining conference with

the Company (R. 39; 85-86, 15-16). The Company
replied by suggesting that the Union forward its pro-

posals to it (R. 16-17). On September 19, 1952, union

representatives met with the Company's bargaining

representatives, attorney George Bahrs (R. 39; 87-88,

128, 174, 175)^ and the Company's assistant superin-

tendent, Callaway (R. 88, 175). The union repre-

sentatives submitted a proposed contract to Bahrs and

Callaway, and discussed its terms in detail (R. 39;

88, 89, 90, 111, 176-177, 17-24). While the union

representatives discussed each section, Bahrs ''didn't

agree or disagree. He just took notes on everything

[they] discussed." (R. 90, 176-177.) Union Rep-

resentative Rose White testified that Bahrs explained

"he would have to take notes of everything that we

discussed because he didn't have authority to negotiate

the agreement, and neither did Callaway" (R. 39;

90, 91).* In addition, Callaway stated that he could

not even give the union representative permission to

go through the Company's plant for the purpose of

setting up job classifications and wage rates without

first securing express permission from the Company's

general ofBce (R. 91-92).^

^ This meeting and all subsequent meetings between the Union

and the Company took place at Bahrs' office (R. 175)

.

* Bahrs testified that he did not remember that the subject of his

authority was raised at the first meeting (R. 39-40; 177).

^ Permission for this was denied through Bahrs on October 3,

1952 (R. 92).
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At the conclusion of the Union's discussion, Bahrs

stated that he would present the proposed agreement

together with the reasons for each paragraph to the

Company at its main office in Summit, Illinois, and

would offer a counterproposal at the earliest oppor-

tunity (R. 39; 92-93, 177).

2. The Company's unilateral change of working conditions

On October 6, just 4 days before the second bar-

gaining conference, the Company's general superin-

tendent, Dave McKay, called 20 employees into the

plant office (E. 40; 151-152). There, as testified to

without contradiction by Henry Phillips, one of the

employees present, McKay told the employees that

"the reliefs would be discontinued as of the following

workday'' (R. 40; 152).^ Phillips and another em-

ployee protested, but McKay replied "that was the

new ruling and that was it. There was nothing that

could be done about it" (R. 40; 152).

3. The Company's continued refusal to invest its negotiator with sufficient

authority to bargain

On October 10, the second conference was held be-

tween Union Representatives White and Bartalini

and Company Representatives Bahrs and Callaway

(R. 40; 93-94, 177-178). Bahrs gave the union repre-

sentatives copies of the Company's written counter-

proposal and told them that the Company would sign

a contract on those terms (R. 40 ; 94, 129, 178) . After

studying the counterproposal privately, the union

* Prior to October 6, a relief period of 30 minutes was allowed

after each 90-minute work period. Thus, during an 8-hour day,

4 relief periods were allowed, during one of which an employee

would eat his lunch (K. 40 ; 150-151)

.



representatives presented their objections to it to

Bahrs (R. 40; 95-96, 130, 178). Bahrs again made
notes of the Union's position on each point, and to

each request made replied that he would take note of

it and relay it to the Company (R. 97-98, 131, 132,

133, 134, 135, 136, 178, 187). In addition to the

objections to the counterproposal. Union Representa-

tive White objected to the Company's conduct of

unilaterally changing working conditions during con-

tract negotiations (R. 186). Bahrs, however, would

only accept a statement of the Union's objection,

which he noted (R. 187). Bahrs then testified, *^I

made a report of that to the company and, as far as

I was concerned, there was the bargaining on that

issue" (R. 187).' The '^ssue" and any possible solu-

tion to it was thereafter ignored by the Company.

During this discussion of objections and requests,

Bartalini asked Bahrs if he had the authority to nego-

tiate an agreement with the Union to which Bahrs

replied that he did not, ''that he was merely hired as

legal counsel, more or less as a go-between between

the Union and the Company" (R. 40-41; 129, 97,

178-179). Bartalini asked Callaway also whether he

had the authority to negotiate an agreement and again

received a negative reply (R. 129). Bartalini then

stated that he ''was afraid that we would have a hard

time restraining the people in the plant unless we

had some assurance that the Company would sit down

^ However, the October 10 letter from Bahrs to the Company,

which is Bahrs' report of the objections raised by the Union at

this time, makes no mention of this particular objection

(R. 33-36).
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with us and come to some agreement" (R. 137). Or,

as Bahrs himself put it, Bartalini said that "either

the Company would have to give me full authority

to make a contract, according to what I thought was

fair, or they would have to send somebody out with

authority to make a final decision; otherwise he

couldn't guarantee how long the men would stay on

the job" (R. 180). Bahrs answered that he did not

have such wide authority and did not expect to get it

(R. 41; 116, 179). He told them, however, that on

some subjects he would make recommendations to the

Company. Bahrs then, in the presence of the union

representatives, dictated a letter to the Company
stating the Union's position on each article of the

Company's counterproposal and its reasons therefor,

in terms of a possible strike (R. 40; 98-99, 136, 179,

33-36).'

That evening, the Union held a meeting of employees

in the unit and reported to them what had taken

place with the Company's representative. The em-

ployees then voted not to return to work the follow-

ing Monday, October 13, and accordingly, a strike

was begun on that date (R. 41; 101, 103).

The next meeting between the Union and the Com-

pany was held on October 29 (R. 41; 33, 101, 104, 117,

165, 180). Bahrs informed the union representatives

that the Company was willing to modify its earlier

position to the extent that it would recognize shop

^ As the Trial Examiner found, however, this letter and other

communications from Bahrs to the Company which appear in the

record amount "to no more than a factual report of developments

and Bahrs' prophecy as to a probable strike" (R. 42).



stewards, agree to a clause for bulletin boards for

official notices of union business only, and delete the

''No Strike" clause in its counterproposal. But,

Bahrs stated further, the Company would not agree

to an arbitration clause in the agreement or to a

union-shop clause. (R. 180-181.) When the union

representatives would not accept these proposals in

their entirety and Bahrs would not attempt to work

out a compromise, but would, as before, merely note

the Union's objections (R. 197-199), Union Repre-

sentative Curry, who had replaced Bartalini (R. 104),

asked both Bahrs and Callaway if either of them had

the authority to negotiate an agreement. When both

replied in the negative Curry said that the Company

should ''get somebody out here to negotiate this agree-

ment, instead of all this long-distance negotiation"

(R. 104-105, 165). Bahrs replied that all he could

do was refer such matters back to the Company in

Illinois (R. 105). When the meeting ended, the par-

ties had failed to settle the strike or to work out an

agreement (R. 105).

On November 7, the parties met for the fourth time

(R. 41; 105, 183) and Don Cameron, International

Representative of the Union (R. 106), asked Bahrs

why the Company had not sent someone who could

settle the differences between the parties. Bahrs re-

plied that it was "irregular," that "in the past * * *

Avhen he was put in on a case to negotiate an agree-

ment he could sit down and settle it, but this company

had never really given him the authority to sit down

and settle it or even to negotiate" (R. 107). Bahrs

himself admitted to the union representatives that the

292523—54 2



8

Company **had refused to give me authority to make
any concessions any further than had already been

given" (R. 184). At the conclusion of the meeting,

Bahrs stated that he was going to ''get ahold of the

Company officials back in Illinois and that he would

call" the Union (R. 107). When Union Representa-

tive White returned to her office, Bahrs called and

told her, ^'everything was off, that whatever we had

discussed there that morning that there wasn't any-

thing at all that he could do, and he had no authority

to settle anything at all, and that that was it" (R.

108).

On January 12, the final meeting between the Com-

pany and the Union was held (R. 41; 108, 138, 184).

Union Representative Bartalini told Bahrs that the

Company at no time had delegated anybody with au-

thority to negotiate a contract and asked if something

could be done about it since the Union would be will-

ing to compromise in order to reach a settlement (R.

138-139).' Bahrs replied, "I'll go along with that"

(R. 139). He then suggested that Bartalini write him

a letter ''so that I [Bahrs] could be sure his position

was accurately conveyed to the Company" (R. 185,

139-140). The following day, pursuant to Bahrs'

suggestion, Bartalini wrote a letter stating the Union's

position (R. 140, 30-31). On January 20, the Com-

pany replied, stating that it had offered a counter-

proposal and later several concessions (supra, p. 6-7),

and that the only means of settling the dispute was

for the Union to accept the contract the Company had

^ The Union offered a lower wage structure than originally pro-

posed if the Company would agree to a union shop (R. 139, 185).
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submitted (R. 32). Significantly, this reply entirely

ignored the Union's request for an authorized repre-

sentative and the Union's compromise offer.

B. The Board's conclusions

On the foregoing facts, the Board, affirming the

trial examiner, concluded that the Company's conduct

contravened Section 8 (a) (5) and (1) of the Act

(R. 57-58). The Board found that the Company, by

limiting its representative's authority to the trans-

mittal of proposals to and from the Company, discus-

sions concerning such proposals, and recommendations

to the Company, failed to give its negotiator sufficient

authority to engage in give-and-take collective bar-

gaining and thereby violated Section 8 (a) (5) of the

Act (R. 58). The Board also found that the Com-

pany further violated Section 8 (a) (5) and (1) of

the Act by unilaterally changing working conditions

during the bargaining negotiations without according

the Union an opportunity to be heard (R. 57-58, 44,

46).

IL

The Board's order

The Board ordered petitioner to cease and desist

from the unfair labor practices found and from vio-

lating the Act in any like or related manner. Affirma-

tively, the Board ordered petitioner upon request to

bargain collectively with the Union, ''designating as

representative * * * one possessing authority to reach

imderstanding with the Union," to embody any un-

derstanding reached in a signed agreement, and to

post appropriate notices (R. 59-61).
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ARGUMENT

The Board properly found that the Company by unilaterally

changing working conditions and by failing to vest sufficient

authority in its bargaining negotiator violated Section 8 (a)

(5) and (1) of the Act

The Company does not strenuously resist that part

of the Board's order which rests on the Company's

failure to consult with the Union before eliminating

the four 30-minute rest periods. The illegality of this

unilateral action is established by controlling author-

ity." The Company suggests (Brief, p. 7) that it

had no intention to undermine the Union, but this

allegation, luisupported by reference to the record,

fails to distinguish the instant case from the authori-

ties cited in n. 10 ; see particularly the May case, 326

U. S. at 385, and cf. the discussion of "proof of

motive" in Radio Officers Union v. N. L. R. B., 74 S.

Ct. 323, 338. Similarly the contention (Brief, p. 8)

that "the Union, itself, attached no real importance

to this question" is not only unsupported by the rec-

ord (see R. 152, 186), but, even if true, would furnish

no defense to the Board's order designed to prevent

recurrence of the unfair labor practice. Cf. National

Licorice Co, v. N, L. R. B., 309 U. S. 350, 362; N, L.

R, B. V. Federal Engineering Co., 153 F. 2d 233, 234

(C. A. 6).

1° ;\^. L. R. B. V. Crompton-Highland Mills, 337 U. S. 217, 224;

May Dept. Stores v. N. L. R. B., 326 U. S. 376, 384; N. L. R. B. v.

Andrew Jergens Co., 175 F. 2d 130, 135-136 (C. A. 9), certiorari

denied, 338 U. S. 827; N. L. R. B. v. Shannon <& Simpson Casket

Co., 208 F. 2d 545, 548 (C. A. 9) ; see also N. L. R. B. v. American

Insurance Co., 187 F. 2d 307, 309 (C. A. 5), affirmed, 343 U. S.

395, 399, 409.
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We turn, then, to the more seriously contested issue

in the case: whether the Board properly found that

the Company by the limitations it imposed on its nego-

tiator failed to fulfill its statutory obligation to bar-

gain in good faith.

As this Court recently stated, "Once a union has

been duly certified as the statutory bargaining repre-

sentative of a unit of employees, the employer is under

a duty to enter into sincere, good faith negotiations

with that union, with an intent to settle the differences

and to arrive at an agreement." N. L, E, B. v. Shan-

non & Simpson Casket Co., 208 F. 2d 545, 548. This

duty to bargain is imposed because of Congress' belief,

expressed in Section 1 of the Act," that collective

bargaining would encourage industrial peace and pre-

vent strikes. And, as recognized by Congress (Sec-

tion 8 (d) of the Act) and the courts {Heinz Co. v.

N. L. R. B., 311 U. S. 514, 523-526), the ultimate

objective of collective bargaining is a signed written

contract.'^ This is not to say, of course, that failure

to reach agreement establishes a want of good faith.

But Congress has imposed on employers and unions the

obligation to "participate actively in the deliberations,"

to make "a sincere effort * * * to reach a common

ground," and to disphiy "a real sense [of] active co-

operation" (A^. L. li. B. V. Montgomery Ward d Co.,

133 F. 2(1 676, 686, 688 (C. A. 9)) to increase the

" Reprinted in the Appendix, m/m, p. 18. Other relevant pro-

visions of the Act are reprinted in the Appendix to the Company's

brief.

^2 See also the legislative history summarized in N. L. R. B. v.

Highland Park Mfg. Co., 110 F. 2d 632, 638 (C. A. 4).
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probability that eventually agreement will result, and

strikes will be averted.

By the same token, conduct which frustrates or

impedes the reaching of an agreement defeats the

ultimate Congressional objective. Again we empha-

size that where failure to agree arises out of an

impasse in negotiations and a failure to make con-

cessions, the conduct of the parties is not necessarily

unlawful even though the ultimate result is disap-

pointing in terms of the Congressional purpose. But

where the failure to agree arises out of conduct of

the employer ^^ which impedes the very act of nego-

tiating itself, then the conduct unlawfully defeats the

purpose of Congress, for the entire statute rests on

the premise that free and full negotiations are the best

guarantee against industrial strife.

The collective bargaining envisaged by Congress is,
,

of course, exemplified in across-the-table, face-to-face

negotiation. This was recognized as early as N. L.

R. B. V. P. Lorillard Co., 117 F. 2d 921, 924 (C. A. 6), ,

where the court observed

:

The collective bargaining features of the statute t

cannot be made effective unless employer and 1

employees cooperate in the give and take of f

personal conferences. While negotiations by

mail are sufficient if both parties accept that

procedure, if the employees do not agree, the j
employer must make his representative avail- >

able for conferences at the plant where the

controversy is in progress, and at reasonable

times and places, so that personal negotiations

are practicable.

" Or of the Union. See Section 8 (b) (3)

.

I
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And the court added in language squarely applicable

here:

If the far-flung activities of the respondent

place its main executives in New York City,

it can still readily designate responsible agents

on the ground to deal with employees. [Em-
phasis supplied.]

"

In the instant case, to be sure, the Company desig-

nated a representative to meet with the Union. But

the mere presence of an employer representative does

not of itself constitute "the give and take of personal

conferences." Collective bargaining entails free dis-

cussion, the exchange of ideas, and the joint hammer-

ing out of a mutually acceptable agreement. The

Company's representative in this case could contribute

no more to "collective bargaining" than could any

messenger boy. He himself admitted he was author-

ized only to present the Company's proposal and to

refer back to the Company any objections the Union

might have thereto. As the trial examiner stated, the

Company gave its representative so little authority

that it might as well have "insisted that negotiations

be carried on through the medium of the Post Office"

(R. 43). It is hardly surprising that "bargaining"

under such circumstances resulted in no agreement

and that the employees resorted to strike action.

A brief summary of the ''negotiations" illustrates

the limited and erroneous conception of ''collective

bargaining" which the Company urges as satisfying

the statutory requirement. Thus with respect to the

" See also the authorities cited by the Board, R. 58, n. 1, to which

should now be added Wheatland Electric Cooperative v.

N, L. R. B., 208 F. 2d 878, 880, 882 (C. A. 10).
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Union's complaint over the Company's unilateral

change of working conditions, the Company's "bar-

gaining" representative testified that after ascertain-

ing the Union's position, ^'I made a report of that to

the Company, and, as far as I was concerned, there

was the bargaining on that issue" (R. 187). Simi-

larly, the Company's representative, after presenting

its counterproposal, refused to discuss the Union's

objections or requests, and merely noted them for later

submission to the Company (supra, p. 5). The same

procedure was repeated when the Company submitted

a later counterproposal (supra, p. 7). This pro-

cedure furnished no more opportunity for real com-

munication of ideas than would be afforded should

this Court, in lieu of hearing oral argument, dispatch

a messenger to hear argument of counsel, report it

back to the bench, convey the Court's questions to

counsel, return with counsel's response, and so on

ad infinitum.

Moreover, when the strike was under way and the

Union pleaded with the Company either to vest some

authority in Bahrs ''or to authorize one of their local

agents, or send out a representative from the home

office" (R. 31), the Company was unwilling to meet

with the Union. Instead it insisted on the Union's

accepting in its entirety the counterproposal which

the Company had forwarded through Bahrs, but

which, like the other company and Union proposals,

had never been the subject of face-to-face negotiation.

This continued refusal to meet in meaningful ''across

the table" bargaining, occurring as it did during a

strike when "the need for carrying out that obligation
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[to bargain] * * * is all the greater in order that a

peaceful settlement of the dispute may be reached, ''"

necessarily prolonged the strike, thereby highlighting

both the wisdom of Congress in requiring collective

bargaining as a means of minimizing industrial con-

flict, and the failure of the Company to meet the basic

elements of its obligation.

In short, like the law violator in N. L. R. B. v.

Mexia Textile Mills, 339 U. S. 563, 565, who
** shunt [ed] the union representatives from one com-

pany official to another in search of final authority,"

the Company here afforded the Union no opportunity

to engage in meaningful conferences. It is this

failure which violated the law.

We do not mean to contend, as the Company would

have the Court believe, that the bargaining representa-

tives must be given imlimited authority to conclude

an agreement, or to make binding commitments. Ob-

viously there is a broad middle ground between an

authority to conclude a contract and an *' authority"

only to listen and to report. Indeed the attorney who

served as the Company's negotiator himself recognized

the existence of this middle ground when he told the

union representative that his position here '^was a

little irregular from what he had been doing in the

past" but that 'Hhis company had never really given

him the authority to sit down and settle it or even to

negotiate'' (R. 107, emphasis supplied).

^5 N. L. R. B. V. Pecheur Lozenge Co., 209 F. 2d 393, 403 (C. A.

2) , citing Jejfery-DeWitt Insulator Co. v. N. L. R. B., 91 F. 2d 134,

140 (C. A. 4) , certiorari denied, 302 U. S. 731 ; see also N. L. R. B.

V. Biles-Coleman Lumber Co., 98 F. 2d 18, 22-23 (C. A. 9)

.
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Consequently the argument in Sections **b" and "d"

of the Company's brief (pp. 13-16, 20-23) falls wide

of the mark, for we make no suggestion that "the

representative be given unlimited authority'' or even

that he have "authority to conclude an agreement."

The Company similarly misconceives our position

when it argues (point "a," pp. 10-12) that the want

of authority of the bargaining representative is merely

a single element of bad faith. Our position here is

that the Company is guilty of an outright refusal to

bargain—a refusal as complete, in the eyes of the law,

as a refusal to meet at all or as the unilateral action,

of which the Company was also guilty. The statutory

duty to bargain, as we have seen, entails a duty to

engage in bargaining conferences upon request, and

failure to do so is a violation of the statute which is

not cured by a willingness to transmit successive

counterproposals by mail or by messenger. Finally,

contrary to the Company's point "c," pp. 16-20, the

Board does not "order the representative to make

agreement subject to rejection by the employer," for

the Act does not compel agreement. What the Act

compels and what the Board's order requires is noth-

ing more nor less than good faith collective bargain-

ing ; but such bargaining entails, inter alia, conferring

through representatives who have at least some au-

thority to express their principal's view and who can

explore possible avenues of agreement in over-the-

table negotiations. It is this fundamental requirement

of collective bargaining which the Company in this

case failed to observe.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully submitted

that the petition to set aside should be denied and that

the Board's order should be enforced in full.

George J. Bott,

General Counsel,

David P. Findling,

Associate General Counsel,

A. Norman Somers,

Assistant General Counsel,

Frederick U. Eeel,

Alan R. Waterstone,

Attorneys,

National Labor Relations Board,

April 1954.



APPENDIX

The relevant provisions of the National Labor Re-

lations Act, as amended (61 Stat. 136, 29 U. S. C.

Supp. V, Sees. 151, et seq.), are as follows:

Findings and Policies

"Section 1. The denial by some employers of

the right of employees to organize and the

refusal by some employers to accept the pro-

cedure of collective bargaining lead to strikes

and other forms of industrial strife or unrest,

v^hich have the intent or the necessary effect of

burdening or obstructing commerce by (a) im-
pairing the efficiency, safety, or operation of

the instrumentalities of commerce; (b) occur-

ring in the current of commerce; (c) materially

affecting, restraining, or controlling the flow of

raw materials or manufactured or processed
goods from or into the channels of commerce,
or the prices of such materials or goods in com-
merce; or (d) causing diminution of employ-
ment and wages in such volume as substantially

to impair or disrupt the market for goods flow-

ing from or into the channels of commerce.
"The inequality of bargaining power between

employees who do not possess full freedom of

association or actual liberty of contract, and
employers who are organized in the corporate

or other forms of ownership association sub-

stantially burdens and affects the flow of com-
merce, and tends to aggravate recurrent busi-

ness depressions, by depressing wage rates and
the purchasing power of wage earners in indus-

try and by preventing the stabilization of com-
petitive wage rates and working conditions

within and between industries.

(18)
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"Experience has proved that protection by-

law of the right of employees to organize and
bargain collectively safeguards commerce from
injury, impairment, or interruption, and pro-

motes the flow of commerce by removing certain

recognized sources of industrial strife and un-

rest, by encouraging practices fundamental to

the friendly adjustment of industrial disputes

arising out of differences as to wages, hours, or

other working conditions, and by restoring

equality of bargaining power between employers
and employees.
"Experience has further demonstrated that

certain practices by some labor organizations,

their officers, and members have the intent or

the necessary effect of burdening or obstructing

commerce by preventing the free flow of goods
in such commerce through strikes and other
forms of industrial unrest or through concerted
activities which impair the interest of the public
in the free flow of such commerce. The elim-

ination of such practices is a necessary condi-

tion to the assurance of the rights herein
guaranteed.

"It is hereby declared to be the policy of the
United States to eliminate the causes of certain

substantial obstructions to the free flow of com-
merce and to mitigate and eliminate these ob-
structions when they have occurred by
encouraging the practice and procedure of
collective bargaining and by protecting the
exercise by workers of full freedom of associa-
tion, self-organization, and designation of rep-
resentatives of their own choosing, for the
purpose of negotiating the terms and condi-
tions of their employment or other mutual aid
or protection.

o. s. GovERimeiiT PRiHTiis OFrieii ifM




